

Adapted differentials as a qfh-sheaf

Pedro Núñez¹

Received: 28 October 2022 / Accepted: 27 June 2023 / Published online: 28 July 2023 © The Author(s) 2023

Abstract

We consider differential forms associated to Campana's geometric orbifolds from a new perspective, namely, as a qfh-sheaf on the variety underlying the geometric orbifold. This approach avoids having to choose a covering of the underlying variety, which is one of the drawbacks of a common way to work with these differential forms.

Keywords Differential forms · qfh-topology

Mathematics Subject Classification 14F10 · 14F20

Contents

1	Introduction
	1.2 Main result
	1.3 Idea of the proof
	1.4 Outline of this paper
2	Preliminaries
	2.1 Notation and conventions
	2.2 Kenexive differentials
	2.5 Kan extensions
	2.5 Adapted morphisms and differentials
	2.6 Pull-back of adapted differentials
3	Proof of Theorem 1
	3.1 Zariski condition (i)
	3.2 Galois condition (ii)
	3.3 Conclusion
4	Some computations
R	eterences

The author gratefully acknowledges support by the DFG-Graduiertenkolleg GK1821 "Cohomological Methods in Geometry" at the University of Freiburg.

Pedro Núñez pedro.nunez@math.uni-freiburg.de https://home.mathematik.uni-freiburg.de/nunez

¹ Mathematisches Institut, Albert-Ludwigs-Universität Freiburg, Ernst-Zermelo-Strasse 1, 79104 Freiburg im Breisgau, Germany

1 Introduction

1.1 Motivation

Geometric orbifolds play a central role in Campana's programme for the birational classification of algebraic varieties [2]. They are pairs (X, Δ) consisting of a normal variety X and a Weil Q-divisor of the form $\Delta = \sum_i \frac{m_i - 1}{m_i} D_i$ with $m_i \in \mathbb{N}_{\geq 2} \cup \{\infty\}$ and with the convention that $\frac{\infty - 1}{\infty} = 1$. These objects interpolate between projective varieties and logarithmic pairs in the sense of Iitaka [13, Sect. 11].

As in the case of smooth projective varieties or logarithmic pairs, one of the fundamental tools to study the geometry of such an object are differential forms on it. Associated to a geometric orbifold we should have differential forms with logarithmic poles of fractional order. These differential forms are only well-defined on a covering space of our geometric orbifold, and this leads to the notion of adapted differentials. This has two disadvantages:

- The definition of adapted differentials requires the choice of a suitably ramified cover. This choice is not unique, and the properties of the resulting sheaf, such as the dimension of its space of global sections, depend on the chosen cover.
- These differentials do not form an object on X a priori, like the sheaf of Kähler differentials on a projective variety or the sheaf of logarithmic differentials on a logarithmic pair do.

But there is a natural object on X that takes all covers into account at once, namely, the presheaf on Sch/X described in Construction 28. We show in Theorem 1 that this presheaf is a qfh-sheaf on Sch/X in the sense of Suslin and Voevodsky. The qfh-topology is recalled in Sect. 2.4.

1.2 Main result

To make the following discussion a bit more self-contained, let us just say here that an *adapted morphism* is a quasi-finite morphism $\gamma: Y \to X$ of normal varieties of the same dimension such that $\gamma^* \Delta$ has integer coefficients, and that on the domain of such a morphism we can define the sheaf of *adapted differential p-forms* $\Omega_{(X,\Delta,\gamma)}^{[p]}$, which are the kind of differential forms that we want to consider. See Definition 16.

Theorem 1 Let X be a normal variety over \mathbb{C} and let Δ be a Weil \mathbb{Q} -divisor as above. For every $p \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists a presheaf $\Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^p$ on Sch/X, unique up to isomorphism, with the following universal property:

(a) For every adapted morphism $\gamma: Y \to X$ there exists a morphism

$$\Omega^{p}_{(X,\Delta)}(Y) \to \Omega^{\lfloor p \rfloor}_{(X,\Delta,\gamma)}(Y),$$

and these morphisms are compatible with the pull-back of differential forms.

(b) For every presheaf \mathscr{H} on Sch/X satisfying (a), there exists a unique morphism $\mathscr{H} \to \Omega^p_{(X \wedge)}$ compatible with the morphisms from (a).

Moreover, the morphisms in (a) are isomorphisms. Furthermore, $\Omega^p_{(X,\Delta)}$ is a sheaf with respect to the *qfh*-topology on Sch/X.

Remark 2 In particular, we can recover $\Omega_{(X,\Delta,\gamma)}^{[p]}$ as the restriction of $\Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^{p}$ to the small Zariski site on *Y*, because every dense open subset of the domain of an adapted morphism induces another adapted morphism.

Remark 3 Adapted differentials are in particular reflexive (logarithmic) differentials on the domain of an adapted morphism. Usual reflexive differentials on normal varieties are known to have qfh-descent, in the sense that Lemma 26 also holds for reflexive differentials [18, Théorme 2.2.2]. However, reflexive differentials do not form a presheaf on the whole Nor/X, because it is not always possible to define a meaningful pull-back, cf. [14, Sect. 1.2] or [15, Sect. B.1]. Note also that the analogous qfh-descent property is known to fail for usual Kähler differentials [18, Exemple 2.2.5].

Remark 4 The universal property in Theorem 1 can be conveniently rephrased as a Kan extension, see Sect. 2.3 and Remark 27.

Being a presheaf means that we can pull back sections along morphisms, and being a *presheaf with transfers* means, roughly speaking, that we can more generally pull back sections along finite correspondences.

Corollary 5 In the setting of Theorem 1, the presheaf $\Omega^p_{(X,\Delta)}$ admits a natural structure of presheaf with transfers.

Proof Follows from Theorem 1 and [4, Proposition 10.5.9].

We refer to [4, Sect. 10] for a more detailed discussion on presheaves with transfers.

1.3 Idea of the proof

Adapted differentials form a Zariski sheaf on the domain of each adapted morphism, see Definition 16. Taking their global sections gives us a presheaf \mathscr{F} on the full subcategory $\operatorname{Adpt}(X, \Delta) \subseteq \operatorname{Sch}/X$ of adapted morphisms, see Lemma 22. This presheaf can be extended to a presheaf $\Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^p$ on Sch/X as a Kan extension, see Construction 28. The universal property and the description of the sections over adapted morphisms follow directly from the construction.

We can also express $\Omega^p_{(X,\Delta)}$ as the Kan extension of \mathscr{G} to Sch/X, where \mathscr{G} is the Kan extension of \mathscr{F} to the category Nor/X of integral normal schemes over X, cf. Sect. 2.3. By [22, Lemma 6.4], it suffices to show that \mathscr{G} satisfies the following properties:

- (i) The presheaf \mathscr{G} restricts to a Zariski sheaf on any integral normal scheme over X.
- (ii) For any integral normal scheme T over X and every finite Galois extension $L/\mathbb{C}(T)$, the restriction along the normalization $T' \to T$ of T in L gives a bijection $\mathscr{G}(T) \cong \mathscr{G}(T')^{\operatorname{Gal}(L/\mathbb{C}(T))}$, where the action of the Galois group on $\mathscr{G}(T')$ is given by pulling sections back along the corresponding automorphisms of T' over X.

Condition (i) is a formal consequence of the construction of the presheaf, cf. Sect. 3.1. The idea for the surjectivity in condition (ii) is the following. Suppose $\pi : T' \to T$ is such a normalization of an integral normal scheme over X in a finite Galois field extension with Galois group G and suppose we are given some $\sigma' \in \mathscr{G}(T')^G$. To define $\sigma \in \mathscr{G}(T)$ we need to specify an adapted differential σ_t for every $t : Y \to T$ such that the composition $Y \to X$ is an adapted morphism, cf. Construction 28. We consider the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} Y' & \stackrel{f}{\longrightarrow} & Y \\ t' \downarrow & & \downarrow t & \searrow \\ T' & \stackrel{\pi}{\longrightarrow} & T & \longrightarrow & X \end{array}$$

in which Y' is the normalization of the fiber product $T' \times_T Y$. Assume for simplicity that Y' is irreducible, so that the composition $Y' \to X$ is an adapted morphism. We are forced by Construction 28 to take an adapted differential σ_t with the property that

$$f^*(\sigma_t) = \sigma'_{t'}.$$

The group G acts on Y', and (Y, f) is a quotient for this action in the sense of [20, Exposé V, Sect. 1]. Therefore, the existence of such an adapted differential is ensured by the property that

$$\Omega^{[p]}_{(X,\Delta,\gamma)}(Y) \cong \Omega^{[p]}_{(X,\Delta,\gamma\circ f)}(Y')^G,$$

which is proven in Lemma 26.

1.4 Outline of this paper

In Sect. 2 we discuss the necessary preliminaries on category theory and on adapted differentials. Most of these preliminaries on adapted differentials are well-known to experts, but we include proofs for convenience. In Sect. 3 we prove Theorem 1. In Sect. 4 we compute the cohomology of $\Omega^{p}_{(X,\Lambda)}$, as well as its sections over some quasi-finite schemes over X.

2 Preliminaries

2.1 Notation and conventions

We follow the notation and terminology in [10] and [16]. In particular, varieties are assumed to be irreducible, and if *D* is a Weil \mathbb{Q} -divisor on a normal variety *Y*, then we denote by $\lceil D \rceil$ (resp. $\lfloor D \rfloor$) the divisor obtained by rounding up (resp. down) its coefficients. We work over the complex numbers \mathbb{C} and fix a pair (*X*, Δ) as above once and for all. Some other notation and conventions:

- All schemes are assumed to be of finite type over \mathbb{C} .
- We denote by Sch/X the category of schemes over X.
- We denote by Nor/X the full subcategory of Sch/X consisting of integral normal schemes over X.
- A big open subset of a scheme is an open subset whose complement has codimension at least 2.
- The quotient of a scheme by a group action will always mean a categorical quotient in the sense of [20, Exposé V, Sect. 1].
- If f: Z → Y is a morphism of normal varieties and A is a coherent sheaf on Y, then we denote by f^[*]A := (f*A)^{∨∨} the reflexive hull of f*A.

2.2 Reflexive differentials

We follow [8, Sect. 2.E] when it comes to differential forms on normal varieties, i.e., we work with reflexive differential forms. Let (Y, D) be a pair consisting of a normal variety Y and a Weil divisor D, and let $i: V \to Y$ be the inclusion of the largest open subset such that $(V, D|_V)$ is snc. Then we define the sheaf of *reflexive logarithmic differential p-forms* as $\Omega_V^{[p]}(\log D) := i_* \Omega_V^p(\log D|_V)$ for every $p \in \mathbb{N}$. Since $\Omega_V^p(\log D|_V)$ is locally free and

 $V \subseteq Y$ is a big open subset, $\Omega_Y^{[p]}(\log D)$ is indeed a reflexive coherent sheaf, and we may equivalently write it as the reflexive hull $\Omega_Y^p(\log D)^{\vee\vee}$, see [8, Notation 2.17].

In Sect. 2.6 we will say that *the pull-back of Kähler differentials induces a morphism of reflexive logarithmic differentials* to mean that there is a morphism between sheaves of reflexive logarithmic differentials which agrees with the pull-back of Kähler differentials wherever this makes sense, e.g., over the complement of the support of the boundary divisor inside the smooth locus.

2.3 Kan extensions

Kan extensions provide a convenient language to discuss a construction that will be used repeatedly in the proof of Theorem 1. The geometric idea behind this construction is the following. Suppose we are given a presheaf defined only on a basis of open subsets of a topological space. Then, there is a natural way to extend it to a presheaf on the whole topological space. Namely, by setting the sections over any given open subset to be the limit of the sections over basic open subsets contained in that open subset, cf. [9, Chap. 0, (3.2.1)].

In the categorical setting, let $u: \mathbf{A} \to \mathbf{B}$ be a functor. Then we have a restriction functor on presheaves $u^P: PSh(\mathbf{B}) \to PSh(\mathbf{A})$, and this functor has a right adjoint $_Pu: PSh(\mathbf{A}) \to$ $PSh(\mathbf{B})$ which corresponds to the previous geometric construction, cf. [23, 00XF]. If *F* is a presheaf on **A**, then $_Pu(F) = \operatorname{Ran}_u(F)$ is the *right Kan extension of F along u*, cf. [17, Sect. X.3]. We will use the following two observations:

Remark 6 Let $i: \mathbf{A} \to \mathbf{B}$ be a fully faithful functor and let F be a presheaf on \mathbf{A} . Then, the restriction of the Kan extension $\operatorname{Ran}_i(F)$ to \mathbf{A} is canonically isomorphic to F itself. See [17, Corollary X.3.3] and the proof of Lemma 29.

Remark 7 Let $u: \mathbf{A} \to \mathbf{B}$ and $v: \mathbf{B} \to \mathbf{C}$ be functors and let F be a presheaf on \mathbf{A} . Since $(v \circ u)^P = u^P \circ v^P$, we have $_P(v \circ u) \cong _P v \circ _P u$. Therefore, $\operatorname{Ran}_{v \circ u}(F) \cong \operatorname{Ran}_v(\operatorname{Ran}_u(F))$.

2.4 qfh-topology

A morphism of schemes $p: Y \to Z$ is called a *topological epimorphism* if the Zariski topology on Z is the quotient topology of the Zariski topology on Y, i.e., if p is surjective and a subset $A \subseteq Z$ is open if and only if $p^{-1}(A)$ is open. It is called a *universal topological epimorphism* if for any $W \to Z$ the projection from the fiber product $p_W: Y \times_Z W \to W$ is a topological epimorphism. We recall the definition of the qfh-topology from [24, Definition 3.1.2]:

Definition 8 (qfh-topology) The qfh-topology on the category of schemes is the Grothendieck topology associated with the pretopology whose coverings are of the form $\{p_i : U_i \rightarrow Y\}$, where $\{p_i\}$ is a finite family of quasi-finite morphisms of finite type such that the morphism $\sqcup p_i : \sqcup U_i \rightarrow Y$ is a universal topological epimorphism.

Remark 9 Let Y be a normal connected scheme and let $\{f_i : Y_i \to Y\}_{i \in I}$ be a finite family of quasi-finite morphisms of finite type such that all Y_i are irreducible. Denote by J the set of those *i* for which Y_i dominates Y. Then the above family is a qfh-covering if and only if $Y = \bigcup_{i \in J} f_i(Y_i)$, cf. [22, Lemma 10.1].

To prove Theorem 1, we will use the following:

Lemma 10 (cf. [22, Lemma 6.4]) Let \mathcal{H} be a presheaf on Nor/X. Assume that \mathcal{H} satisfies the Zariski condition (i) and the Galois condition (ii) spelled out in Sect. 1.3. Then the right Kan extension of \mathcal{H} to Sch/X is a qfh-sheaf.

Proof This right Kan extension is given by the right adjoint to the restriction functor $PSh(Sch/X) \rightarrow PSh(Nor/X)$, cf. Remark 27. Therefore, it is given by the functor $e: PSh(Nor/X) \rightarrow PSh(Sch/X)$ from [22, Sect. 6]. The arguments in the proof of [22, Lemma 6.4] do not use the assumption that we are working over a field, but only that we are working with finite type schemes over a field, cf. [22, Lemma 10.3]. This is still true in our case, because X is itself of finite type over \mathbb{C} , hence the claim.

2.5 Adapted morphisms and differentials

Quasi-finite morphisms between normal varieties of the same dimension are open and dominant. We can pull back Cartier divisors along dominant morphisms [23, 02OO], and Weil divisors on a normal variety are Cartier over the regular locus, which is a big open subset. The preimage of a big open subset under a quasi-finite morphism of varieties of the same dimension is again a big open subset. Therefore, quasi-finite morphisms between normal varieties of the same dimension induce a pull-back homomorphism on Weil divisors. This allows us to define:

Definition 11 (*Adapted morphism*) An *adapted morphism* with respect to (X, Δ) is a quasifinite morphism $\gamma: Y \to X$ such that Y is a normal variety with dim $(Y) = \dim(X)$ and such that $\gamma^* \Delta$ is a Weil divisor with integer coefficients.

We denote by $Adpt(X, \Delta)$ the full subcategory of Sch/X whose objects are adapted morphisms with respect to (X, Δ) .

Example 12 Let (X, Δ) be a geometric orbifold with $\lceil \Delta \rceil - \Delta \neq 0$. Then id_X is a quasi-finite morphism between normal varieties of the same dimension, but it is not an adapted morphism with respect to (X, Δ) .

Example 13 Let $X = \mathbb{A}^1 = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{C}[x])$ and let $\Delta = \frac{2}{3}\{x = 0\}$. Let $m \in \mathbb{N}$. The morphism $\gamma : \mathbb{A}^1 \to \mathbb{A}^1$ given by $x \mapsto x^m$ is an adapted morphism with respect to (X, Δ) if and only if $m \in 3\mathbb{Z}$.

We will only consider a single pair (X, Δ) , so from now we will simply refer to adapted morphisms with respect to (X, Δ) as adapted morphisms.

Remark 14 If $\gamma_1: Y_1 \to X$ is an adapted morphism and $f: Y_2 \to Y_1$ is a quasi-finite morphism between normal varieties of the same dimension, then $\gamma_1 \circ f: Y_2 \to X$ is again an adapted morphism.

Remark 15 If $\gamma_1: Y_1 \to X$ and $\gamma_2: Y_2 \to X$ are adapted morphisms and $f: Y_2 \to Y_1$ is a morphism over X, then f is a quasi-finite morphism between normal varieties of the same dimension [7, Proposition 12.17.(3)], hence open and dominant as well.

We refer to [5, II. Sect. 3] for the necessary background on logarithmic differentials and to [3, Sect. 5] for a discussion motivating the following:

Definition 16 (*Adapted differentials*) Let *I* be a set of indices such that $\Delta = \sum_{i \in I} \frac{m_i - 1}{m_i} D_i$ with D_i distinct prime Weil divisors. We denote by $I_0 \subseteq I$ the subset of indices such

$$q: \oplus_{i \in I} \gamma^* \mathcal{O}_{D_i} \to \oplus_{i \in I_0} \mathcal{O}_{\gamma^* \left(\frac{1}{m_i} D_i\right)}$$

which is an epimorphism of \mathcal{O}_Y -modules. We define the \mathcal{O}_Y -module of *adapted differential* 1-*forms* as

$$\Omega^{1}_{(X,\Delta,\gamma)} := \ker \left(\gamma^{*} \Omega^{1}_{X}(\log \lceil \Delta \rceil) \xrightarrow{\gamma^{*}(\operatorname{res})} \oplus_{i \in I} \gamma^{*} \mathscr{O}_{D_{i}} \xrightarrow{q} \oplus_{i \in I_{0}} \mathscr{O}_{\gamma^{*}\left(\frac{1}{m_{i}} D_{i}\right)} \right).$$

For each $p \in \mathbb{N}$, the \mathcal{O}_Y -module of *adapted differential p-forms* is defined as

$$\Omega^{p}_{(X,\Delta,\gamma)} := \bigwedge^{p} \Omega^{1}_{(X,\Delta,\gamma)},$$

which is then locally free because $\Omega^1_{(X, \Delta, \gamma)}$ was locally free.

In general, we consider the largest open subset $U \subseteq X$ such that (X, Δ) is snc over U. This is a big open subset, i.e., the codimension of its complement is at least 2. Since γ is quasi-finite between varieties of the same dimension, $\gamma^{-1}(U)$ is a big open subset as well. We can then consider the largest open subset $V \subseteq \gamma^{-1}(U)$ such that $(Y, \gamma^* \Delta)$ is snc over V, which is a big open subset of Y. We define the \mathscr{O}_Y -module of adapted differentials as

$$\Omega^{[p]}_{(X,\Delta,\gamma)} := i_* \left(\Omega^p_{(U,\Delta|_U,\gamma|_V)} \right),$$

where $i: V \rightarrow Y$ denotes the open immersion.

Remark 17 The sheaves $\Omega_{(X,\Delta,\gamma)}^{[p]}$ are coherent and reflexive, because they are the pushforward of locally free sheaves defined over a big open subset, see [23, 0AY6].

Example 18 If $\Delta = 0$, then any quasi-finite morphism $\gamma: Y \to X$ between normal varieties of the same dimension is an adapted morphism, and in this case we have $\gamma^{[*]}\Omega_X^{[p]} \cong \Omega_{(X,\Delta,\gamma)}^{[p]}$ for all $p \in \mathbb{N}$, cf. also Lemma 21 below.

Example 19 In the setting of Example 13, if m = 3k for some $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$, then $\Omega^1_{(X,\Delta,\gamma)}$ is the subsheaf of $\Omega^1_{\mathbb{A}^1}$ generated by $y^{k-1}dy$.

Remark 20 Root stacks have been used in the context of symmetric differentials on geometric orbifolds, see [21, Proposition 3.4]. If the construction of the (iterated) root stack of the boundary divisors is possible, e.g., if X is locally factorial, then we can also understand adapted differentials in terms of root stacks. Namely, adapted differentials are the pull-back of differential forms defined on the root stack. To showcase the argument, let us look at a simple example. Let $X = \text{Spec}(\mathbb{C}[x])$, $\Delta = \frac{m-1}{m} \{x = 0\}$ for some $m \in \mathbb{N}_{\geq 2}$, $Y = \text{Spec}(\mathbb{C}[y])$ and $\gamma: Y \to X$ given by $x \mapsto y^a$ with a = km for $k \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$. Let $U = \text{Spec}(\mathbb{C}[z]) \cong \text{Spec}(\mathbb{C}[x, t]/(t^m - x))$ and consider the cyclic quotient $q: U \to X$ given by $x \mapsto z^m$. Denoting by $\mu_m \subseteq \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ the group of *m*-th roots of unity, we can describe the *m*-th root stack of $\{x = 0\} \subseteq X$ as the quotient stack $\mathcal{X} = [U/\mu_m]$, where the action of μ_m on U is given by $\zeta \cdot z = \zeta z$ [19, Theorem 10.3.10]. The morphism q factors as $\pi \circ u$, where $\gamma^* \{x = 0\} = km\{y = 0\}$ is an *m*-th power, the morphism γ lifts to a morphism $\tilde{\gamma}: Y \to \mathcal{X}$

over X. This can in turn be lifted to the morphism $f: Y \to U$ given by $z \mapsto y^k$, and we obtain the following commutative diagram:

$$Y \xrightarrow{\tilde{\gamma}} X \xrightarrow{\tilde{\gamma}} X$$

$$Y \xrightarrow{\tilde{\gamma}} X$$

$$\chi$$

$$\chi$$

In this situation, the pull-back of Kähler differentials induces an isomorphism $\tilde{\gamma}^* \Omega^1_{\mathcal{X}} \cong \Omega^1_{(X,\Delta,\gamma)}$. Indeed, by definition we have $u^* \Omega^1_{\mathcal{X}} = \Omega^1_U$, and the pull-back of Kähler differentials $f^* \Omega^1_U \to \Omega^1_Y$ induces an isomorphism onto the subsheaf generated by $y^{k-1} dy$, which is precisely $\Omega^1_{(X,\Delta,\gamma)}$.

In more general situations, similar computations can be used to argue analytic locally over the smooth loci of (X, Δ) and $(Y, \gamma^* \Delta)$, cf. proof of Lemma 21.

2.6 Pull-back of adapted differentials

From now on we fix a $p \in \mathbb{N}$.

The following lemma was observed by Stefan Kebekus and Erwan Rousseau in an upcoming work, but was probably known to experts before:

Lemma 21 Let $\gamma_1 : Y_1 \to X$ and $\gamma_2 : Y_2 \to X$ be two adapted morphisms and let $f : Y_2 \to Y_1$ be a morphism over X. The pull-back of Kähler differentials induces an isomorphism

$$f^{[*]}\Omega^{[p]}_{(X,\Delta,\gamma_1)} \cong \Omega^{[p]}_{(X,\Delta,\gamma_2)}$$

Proof The restriction of sections of a reflexive coherent sheaf on a normal variety to a big open subset is an isomorphism [11, Proposition 1.6], so we may restrict to suitable big open subsets and assume that (X, Δ) , $(Y_1, \gamma_1^* \Delta)$ and $(Y_2, \gamma_2^* \Delta)$ are all snc. Let Δ_i be the reduced divisor underlying $\gamma_i^* \lfloor \Delta \rfloor$ for each $i \in \{1, 2\}$. Then $\Omega_{(X, \Delta, \gamma_1)}^p$ is a locally free subsheaf of $\Omega_{Y_1}^p(\log \Delta_1)$ and f is dominant, so the pull-back of logarithmic differential forms as in [13, Sect. 11.c] induces an injective morphism

$$f^*\Omega^p_{(X,\Delta,\gamma_1)} \to \Omega^p_{Y_2}(\log \Delta_2).$$

The claim is that the image is precisely $\Omega_{(X,\Delta,\gamma_2)}^p$. It suffices to show this on the stalks and for p = 1, so this can be checked analytic locally using the local generators in [3, (60)]. Indeed, let $z \in Y_2$ be a point and choose analytic local coordinates x_1, \ldots, x_n around $\gamma_2(z) \in X$ such that

$$\Delta = \sum_{i=1}^{r} \frac{m_i - 1}{m_i} D_i + \sum_{i=r+1}^{l} D_i$$

with $D_i = \{x_i = 0\}$ around $\gamma_2(z)$. The simple normal crossing assumption implies that $l \le n$, and for concreteness of notation let us assume that $1 \le r < l < n$. We choose analytic local coordinates y_1, \ldots, y_n around $f(z) \in Y_1$ such that

$$\gamma_1(y_1,\ldots,y_n)=\left(y_1^{a_1},\ldots,y_n^{a_n}\right)$$

🖉 Springer

with $a_i \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ for all $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$. Since γ_1 is an adapted morphism with respect to (X, Δ) , for each $i \in \{1, ..., r\}$, there exists a $k_i \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $a_i = m_i k_i$. A system of local generators of $\Omega^1_{(X, \Delta, \gamma_1)}$ around f(z) is given by

$$y_1^{k_1-1}dy_1, \ldots, y_r^{k_r-1}dy_r, \frac{1}{y_{r+1}}dy_{r+1}, \ldots, y_n^{a_n-1}dy_n$$

This follows from the local descriptions of the morphisms involved in Definition 16; cf. also [3, Definition 5.3], in which the adapted morphism would be chosen such that $k_i = 1$ for all $i \in \{1, ..., r\}$. Similarly, we choose analytic local coordinates $z_1, ..., z_n$ around $z \in Y_2$ such that

$$f(z_1,\ldots,z_n)=\left(z_1^{c_1},\ldots,z_n^{c_n}\right)$$

with $c_i \in \mathbb{N}_{>0}$ for all $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$. The morphism γ_2 is then given by

$$\gamma_2(z_1,\ldots,z_n)=\left(z_1^{c_1a_1},\ldots,z_n^{c_na_n}\right).$$

The corresponding local generators of $\Omega^1_{(X,\Delta,\gamma_2)}$ around z are

$$z_1^{c_1k_1-1}dz_1,\ldots,z_r^{c_rk_r-1}dz_r,\frac{1}{z_{r+1}}dz_{r+1},\ldots,z_n^{c_na_n-1}dz_n,$$

which are, up to multiplication by non-zero scalars, the pull-backs along f of the local generators of $\Omega^1_{(X,\Delta,\gamma_1)}$ around f(z).

Lemma 22 If $\gamma_1: Y_1 \to X$ and $\gamma_2: Y_2 \to X$ are two adapted morphisms and $f: Y_2 \to Y_1$ is a morphism over X, then the pull-back of Kähler differentials induces a \mathbb{C} -linear morphism $f^*: \Omega_{(X,\Delta,\gamma_1)}^{[p]}(Y_1) \to \Omega_{(X,\Delta,\gamma_2)}^{[p]}(Y_2)$. Moreover:

- If $\gamma: Y \to X$ is an adapted morphism, then $\operatorname{id}_Y^* = \operatorname{id}_{\Omega^{[p]}_{(X,\Delta,\gamma)}(Y)}$.
- If $\gamma_1: Y_1 \to X$, $\gamma_2: Y_2 \to X$ and $\gamma_3: Y_3 \to X$ are three adapted morphisms, and $f: Y_2 \to Y_1$ and $g: Y_3 \to Y_2$ are two morphisms over X, then $(f \circ g)^* = g^* \circ f^*$.

Proof The existence of f^* follows from [11, Proposition 1.6] and Lemma 21. Since the sheaves of adapted differentials are torsion-free, it suffices to check the desired identities over a dense open subset. But over a dense open subset these morphisms agree with the pull-back of Kähler differentials, hence the claim.

Notation 23 We denote by \mathscr{F} the presheaf on $\operatorname{Adpt}(X, \Delta)$ with $\mathscr{F}(Y) := \Omega_{(X, \Delta, \gamma)}^{[p]}(Y)$ for all adapted morphisms $\gamma : Y \to X$ and with restriction maps given as in Lemma 22.

Lemma 24 Let $\gamma_1 : Y_1 \to X$ and $\gamma_2 : Y_2 \to X$ be two adapted morphisms and let $f : Y_2 \to Y_1$ be a morphism over X. Then the restriction map $f^* : \mathscr{F}(Y_1) \to \mathscr{F}(Y_2)$ is injective.

Proof Again by torsion freeness it suffices to check this over a dense open subset, over which it follows from the corresponding statement for pull-back of Kähler differentials along the dominant morphism f.

Lemma 25 Let $\gamma: Y \to X$ be an adapted morphism and let $V \subseteq Y$ be an open subset. Then the restriction map $\mathscr{F}(Y) \to \mathscr{F}(V)$ is the usual restriction map of the sheaf $\Omega_{(X,\Delta,\gamma)}^{[p]}$.

Proof Follows from torsion freeness and the corresponding statement for Kähler differentials as before. □

Lemma 26 Let $\gamma_1: Y_1 \to X$ and $\gamma_2: Y_2 \to X$ be two adapted morphisms and let $f: Y_2 \to Y_1$ be a morphism over X such that there exists a finite group G acting on Y_2 in such a way that (Y_1, f) is a quotient of Y_2 by G. Then the restriction map f^* induces a bijection $\mathscr{F}(Y_1) \to \mathscr{F}(Y_2)^G$.

Proof The *G*-action on Y_2 induces a *G*-sheaf structure on logarithmic differentials [8, Fact 10.5], hence on adapted differentials by Lemma 21. The sheaf $(f_* \Omega_{(X,\Delta,\gamma_2)}^{[p]})^G$ is then reflexive [8, Lemma A.4], so we may restrict our attention to big open subsets and assume that (X, Δ) , $(Y_1, \gamma_1^* \Delta)$ and $(Y_2, \gamma_2^* \Delta)$ are all snc. By Lemma 21, pull-back of Kähler differentials induces an isomorphism

$$f^*\Omega^p_{(X,\Delta,\gamma_1)} \cong \Omega^p_{(X,\Delta,\gamma_2)}.$$

If ϕ_g denotes the automorphism of Y_2 corresponding to $g \in G$, then $f \circ \phi_g = f$, so the previous isomorphism is also an isomorphism of *G*-sheaves with respect to the *G*-sheaf structure induced on the pull-back. Hence, the assumption that (Y_1, f) is a quotient of Y_2 by *G* and the projection formula imply that

$$\Omega^p_{(X,\Delta,\gamma_1)} \cong \Omega^p_{(X,\Delta,\gamma_1)} \otimes (f_*\mathscr{O}_{Y_2})^G \cong (f_*f^*\Omega^p_{(X,\Delta,\gamma_1)})^G \cong (f_*\Omega^p_{(X,\Delta,\gamma_2)})^G,$$

and taking global sections yields the desired bijection.

3 Proof of Theorem 1

To motivate Construction 28, we start with the following observation:

Remark 27 If we denote by i^P : PSh(Sch/X) \rightarrow PSh(Adpt(X, Δ)) the restriction functor, then the universal property in Theorem 1 can be rephrased as follows:

- (a) There exists a morphism $\varepsilon : i^P(\Omega^p_{(X \wedge)}) \to \mathscr{F}.$
- (b) For every presheaf \mathscr{H} on Sch/X such that there exists a morphism $\varphi : i^{P}(\mathscr{H}) \to \mathscr{F}$, there exists a unique morphism $\psi : \mathscr{H} \to \Omega^{P}_{(X \land X)}$ such that $\varphi = \varepsilon \circ i^{P}(\psi)$.

In other words, $\Omega^p_{(X,\Delta)}$ is the right Kan extension of \mathscr{F} along the inclusion i: Adpt $(X, \Delta)^{\text{op}} \to (\operatorname{Sch}/X)^{\text{op}}$.

Construction 28 We define $\Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^p$ as the right Kan extension of \mathscr{F} to Sch/X. Then $\Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^p$ satisfies the universal property in Theorem 1 by construction, see Remark 27. Recall from Sect. 2.3 that we can write $\Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^p = Pi(\mathscr{F})$, where Pi: PSh(Adpt(X, $\Delta)$) \rightarrow PSh(Sch/X) is the right adjoint to the restriction functor, as described in [23, 00XF]. Therefore, we can explicitly describe the sections of this presheaf as

$$\Omega^{p}_{(X,\Delta)}(T) = \lim_{\substack{Y \to T \\ Y \to X \text{ adapted}}} \mathscr{F}(Y).$$
(1)

So a section $\sigma = (\sigma_t)_t \in \Omega^p_{(X,\Delta)}(T)$ consists of a family of adapted differentials indexed by morphisms $t: Y \to T$ such that the composition $Y \to X$ is an adapted morphism. This family is moreover compatible in the sense that

$$f^*(\sigma_t) = \sigma_{t \circ f} \tag{2}$$

for every morphism $f: Y' \to Y$ such that the composition $Y' \to X$ is an adapted morphism. If $\pi: T' \to T$ is a morphism and we are given a section $\sigma \in \Omega^p_{(X,\Delta)}(T)$, then $\Omega^p_{(X,\Delta)}(\pi)(\sigma)$ is the family uniquely determined by the property that

$$\Omega^{p}_{(X,\Delta)}(\pi)(\sigma)_{t'} = \sigma_{\pi \circ t'} \tag{3}$$

for every morphism $t': Y \to T'$ such that the composition $Y \to X$ is an adapted morphism.

Lemma 29 Let $\gamma: Y \to X$ be an adapted morphism. Then the canonical morphism $\Omega^p_{(X \land X)}(Y) \to \mathscr{F}(Y)$ is an isomorphism.

Proof This is a formal consequence of the inclusion $i: \operatorname{Adpt}(X, \Delta) \to \operatorname{Sch}/X$ being fully faithful, cf. Remark 6. Let us make this explicit in the case at hand. Since the inclusion $i: \operatorname{Adpt}(X, \Delta) \to \operatorname{Sch}/X$ is fully faithful, the indexing category in (1) has an initial object, namely the identity on Y. Hence $\Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^{p}(Y) \cong \mathscr{F}(Y)$. More explicitly, the isomorphism is given by sending a family $(\sigma_t)_t$ to the component $\sigma_{\operatorname{id}_Y}$ at id_Y , and the inverse is given by pulling back along the corresponding morphisms.

It remains to show that $\Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^p$ is a qfh-sheaf on Sch/X. As outlined in the introduction, we will apply Lemma 10 to the right Kan extension of \mathscr{F} to Nor/X.

Notation 30 We denote by \mathscr{G} the right Kan extension of \mathscr{F} to Nor/X, where \mathscr{F} is the presheaf from Notation 23.

By Remark 7 and Remark 6, we may also regard \mathscr{G} as the restriction of $\Omega^p_{(X,\Delta)}$ to Nor/X, so its sections are described by the same equations in Construction 28 that describe the sections of $\Omega^p_{(X,\Delta)}$.

3.1 Zariski condition (i)

We need to show that for any integral normal X-scheme T, the presheaf \mathscr{G} defines a sheaf in the small Zariski site on T [22, Definition 6.1]. Arbitrary fiber products do not exist in Adpt(X, Δ) nor in Nor/X, but fiber products along open immersions do exist. Moreover, if $T \rightarrow X$ is in Adpt(X, Δ) (resp. in Nor/X) and $U \rightarrow T$ is an open immersion, then the composition $U \rightarrow X$ is again in Adpt(X, Δ) (resp. in Nor/X). Therefore, taking Zariski coverings as coverings, both Adpt(X, Δ) and Nor/X are sites in the sense of [23, 00VH], and it suffices to show that \mathscr{G} is a sheaf on Nor/X with respect to the corresponding Zariski topology. Since the sheaves of adapted differentials are Zariski sheaves and the restriction maps of \mathscr{F} are compatible with the restriction maps of these sheaves by Lemma 25, \mathscr{F} is a sheaf with respect to the Zariski topology on Adpt(X, Δ). The inclusion functor Adpt(X, Δ) \rightarrow Nor/X is cocontinuous [23, 00XJ], so the sheaf property is preserved by the right Kan extension [23, 00XK] and \mathscr{G} is a Zariski sheaf on Nor/X.

3.2 Galois condition (ii)

In this subsection we fix a normal integral *X*-scheme $T \to X$ and a finite Galois extension $L/\mathbb{C}(T)$ of its function field $\mathbb{C}(T)$. We denote by *G* the Galois group of this extension and by $\pi: T' \to T$ the normalization of *T* in *L* [7, Definition 12.42].

We will use the following observation. This is not a new result, but we include a proof for convenience:

Lemma 31 Let Y and Y' be normal integral schemes and let $f: Y' \rightarrow Y$ be a morphism. Then f is a quotient of Y' by the action of a finite group H if and only if f induces a finite Galois extension of function fields with Galois group H and Y' is the normalization of Y in this extension of its function field.

Proof Suppose (Y, f) is a quotient of Y' by a finite group H in the sense of [20, Exposé V, Sect. 1]. Then f is finite and the statement that we want to show is local on Y, so we may assume that both Y' and Y are affine, say Y' = Spec(B) and Y = Spec(A). The group H acts on B and the quotient morphism f allows us to identify $A = B^H$, cf. [20, Exposé V, Proposition 1.1]. By [1, Exercise 5.12] we have an induced H-action on $B_{(0)}$ such that $A_{(0)} = (B_{(0)})^H$, so $\mathbb{C}(Y) \subseteq \mathbb{C}(Y')$ is a finite Galois extension with Galois group H. It remains to show that Y' is the normalization of Y inside $\mathbb{C}(Y')$, i.e., we want to show that $B = \{b \in B_{(0)} \mid b \text{ integral over } A\}$. Every element in B is integral over A, because $A \subseteq B$ is integral. And conversely, if $b \in B_{(0)}$ is integral over A, then it is also integral over B. Since Y' is normal, we deduce that $b \in B$.

Conversely, suppose that Y' is the normalization of Y in $\mathbb{C}(Y')$ and that $\mathbb{C}(Y) \subseteq \mathbb{C}(Y')$ is a finite Galois extension with Galois group H. We show that H acts on Y' with quotient (Y, f). The statement is local on Y and normalization is a finite morphism in our setting, so we may assume again that both $Y' = \operatorname{Spec}(B)$ and $Y = \operatorname{Spec}(A)$ are affine. By assumption there is an H-action on $B_{(0)}$ such that $A_{(0)} = (B_{(0)})^H$, and we want to show that it induces an H-action on B such that $A = B^H$. Given $b \in B$ non-zero and $h \in H$, since $A \subseteq B$ is an integral extension, there exists a monic polynomial $P \in A[T]$ such that P(b) = 0. Since the coefficients of P are G-invariant, this implies that $P(h \cdot b) = 0$, so $h \cdot b$ is also integral over A, hence over B. Since Y' is normal, $h \cdot b \in B$. So the H-action on $B_{(0)}$ induces an H-action on B. Since $A_{(0)} = (B_{(0)})^H$ and Y is normal, we have $A = B^H$.

So in our current setting $\pi: T' \to T$ is the quotient of T' by the induced *G*-action on T'. For each $g \in G$ we denote by ϕ_g the corresponding automorphism of T'. Then we have a *G*-action on $\mathscr{G}(T')$ given by pulling back along the corresponding automorphism. The restriction map $\mathscr{G}(\pi): \mathscr{G}(T) \to \mathscr{G}(T')$ has image contained in $\mathscr{G}(T')^G$, because $\pi \circ \phi_g = \pi$ for all $g \in G$. Our goal in this subsection is to show that this restriction map is a bijection onto $\mathscr{G}(T')^G$.

Lemma 32 The morphism $\mathscr{G}(\pi)$: $\mathscr{G}(T) \to \mathscr{G}(T')^G$ is injective.

Proof Let $\sigma, \sigma' \in \mathscr{G}(T)$ be two sections such that $\mathscr{G}(\pi)(\sigma) = \mathscr{G}(\pi)(\sigma')$. We want to show that $\sigma = \sigma'$, so let $t: Y \to T$ be a morphism such that the composition $Y \to X$ is an adapted morphism and let us show that $\sigma_t = \sigma'_t$. Let Y' be a component of the normalization of the fiber product $T' \times_T Y$ that surjects onto Y, considered as a subscheme with its induced reduced structure, and let $f: Y' \to Y$ be the induced surjective morphism, which is also finite because so are the normalization, the closed immersion and the pull-back of π . Let $t': Y' \to T'$ be the induced morphism, so that $\pi \circ t' = t \circ f$ and the composition $Y' \to X$ is an adapted morphism as well. It follows then from (2) and (3) that $f^*(\sigma_t) = \sigma_{\pi \circ t'} = f^*(\sigma'_t)$, hence $\sigma_t = \sigma'_t$ by Lemma 24.

Lemma 33 The morphism $\mathscr{G}(\pi)$: $\mathscr{G}(T) \to \mathscr{G}(T')^G$ is surjective.

Proof Let $\sigma' \in \mathscr{G}(T')$ be a *G*-invariant section, i.e., $\mathscr{G}(\phi_g)(\sigma') = \sigma'$ for all $g \in G$, where ϕ_g denotes the automorphism of *T'* corresponding to *g*. We want to find a section $\sigma \in \mathscr{G}(T)$ such that $\mathscr{G}(\pi)(\sigma) = \sigma'$, so let $t: Y \to T$ be a morphism such that the composition $Y \to X$ is an adapted morphism. Let Y'_0 be any irreducible component of the fiber product $T' \times_T Y$,

considered as a subscheme with its induced reduced structure. Let G_0 be the stabilizer of Y'_0 in G, so that the induced morphism $Y'_0 \to Y$ is a quotient of Y'_0 by G_0 , cf. [12, Lemma 2.1.11] and [22, Corollary 5.10]. Let \bar{Y}'_0 be the normalization of Y'_0 . Then G_0 acts on \bar{Y}'_0 as well and the induced morphism $f_0^Y : \bar{Y}'_0 \to Y$ is still a quotient for this action, cf. Lemma 31. Let $t_0: \bar{Y}'_0 \to T'$ be the induced morphism, so that $t \circ f_0^Y = \pi \circ t_0$ and the composition $\bar{Y}'_0 \to X$ is an adapted morphism:



The desired $\sigma \in \mathscr{G}(T)$ must then have the property that $(f_0^Y)^*(\sigma_t) = \sigma_{\pi \circ t_0} = \sigma'_{t_0}$. Let now $g \in G_0$ and let ψ_g denote the corresponding automorphism of \bar{Y}'_0 . From (2), (3) and the equality $t_0 \circ \psi_g = \phi_g \circ t_0$ we deduce that $\psi_g^*(\sigma'_{t_0}) = \sigma'_{t_0}$, hence σ'_{t_0} is a G_0 -invariant adapted differential on \bar{Y}'_0 . By Lemma 26 we can find an adapted differential σ_t on Y such that $(f_0^Y)^*(\sigma_t) = \sigma'_{t_0}$. Moreover, the resulting adapted differential is independent of the chosen irreducible component Y'_0 . Indeed, let Y'_1 be another irreducible component and let τ_t be an adapted differential on Y such that $(f_1^Y)^*(\tau_t) = \sigma'_{t_1}$, where f_1^Y and t_1 are defined as before but for the irreducible component Y'_1 instead. Since G acts transitively on the irreducible components of the fiber product [22, Corollary 5.10], we can find some $g \in G$ such that the corresponding automorphism of the fiber product induces an isomorphism $Y'_0 \to Y'_1$ over Y, hence also an isomorphism $\psi_g: \tilde{Y}'_0 \to \tilde{Y}'_1$ over Y. From G-invariance of σ' , the equality $\phi_g \circ t_0 = t_1 \circ \psi_g$, the equality $f_0^Y = f_1^Y \circ \psi_g$ and the usual equations we have

$$(f_0^Y)^*(\sigma_t) = \sigma'_{t_0} = \sigma'_{\phi_g \circ t_0} = \psi_g^*(\sigma'_{t_1}) = \psi_g^*((f_1^Y)^*(\tau_t)) = (f_0^Y)^*(\tau_t),$$

hence $\sigma_t = \tau_t$ by Lemma 24.

We show next that the family of adapted differentials σ constructed in this manner satisfies (2), i.e., that $\sigma \in \mathscr{G}(T)$. Let $t: Y \to T$ be a morphism such that the composition $Y \to X$ is an adapted morphism and let $f: Z \to Y$ be a morphism such that the composition $Z \to X$ is an adapted morphism as well. Since $f: Z \to Y$ is dominant, we may find an irreducible component of $T' \times_T Z$ which dominates an irreducible component of $T' \times_T Y$, say $Z'_0 \to Y'_0$. From the universal property of the normalization we obtain now a morphism $f_0: Z'_0 \to Y'_0$ such that $f \circ f_0^Z = f_0^Y \circ f_0$, where $f_0^Y: \bar{Y}'_0 \to Y$ and $f_0^Z: \bar{Z}'_0 \to Z$ are defined as in the last paragraph:



Deringer

From (2) for σ' , the equality $f \circ f_0^Z = f_0^Y \circ f_0$ and the construction of σ we deduce that $(f_0^Z)^*(f^*(\sigma_t)) = (f_0^Z)^*(\sigma_{t\circ f})$, hence $f^*(\sigma_t) = \sigma_{t\circ f}$ by Lemma 24.

To finish the proof we need to check that $\mathscr{G}(\pi)(\sigma) = \sigma'$, so let $s: Y \to T'$ be a morphism such that the composition $Y \to X$ is an adapted morphism. Let $f_0^Y: \bar{Y}_0 \to Y$ and $t_0: \bar{Y}_0' \to T'$ be constructed as above with respect to the morphism $t := \pi \circ s$. For every $g \in G$, denote by E_g the equalizer of $\phi_g \circ t_0$ and $s \circ f_0^Y$, which is a closed subscheme of \bar{Y}_0' because π is separated [7, Definition and Proposition 9.7.(ii)]. We claim that $\bar{Y}_0' = \bigcup_{g \in G} E_g$ as sets. Indeed, it suffices to show that every closed point of \bar{Y}_0' belongs to E_g for some $g \in G$, because all E_g are closed subspaces and the set of closed points is dense in \bar{Y}_0' . But we are working over an algebraically closed field, so this follows from [7, Exercise 9.7] and from the equality $\pi \circ t_0 = \pi \circ s \circ f_0^Y$, in which π is a quotient of T' by G. Since \bar{Y}_0' is irreducible and G is finite, there exists some $g \in G$ such that $\bar{Y}_0' = E_g$ as topological spaces. But \bar{Y}_0' is reduced, so we must have $\bar{Y}_0' = E_g$ and thus $\phi_g \circ t_0 = s \circ f_0^Y$. Let now \bar{Y}_1' be a normalized component of the fiber product such that g induces an isomorphism $\psi_g: \bar{Y}_0' \to \bar{Y}_1'$ with $t_1 \circ \psi_g = \phi_g \circ t_0$, notation again as above. Then the following diagram remains commutative after adding the dashed arrow:



Therefore $t_1 \circ \psi_g = s \circ f_1^Y \circ \psi_g$, and thus also $t_1 = s \circ f_1^Y$. By construction of σ we have $(f_1^Y)^*(\sigma_t) = \sigma_{t_1}'$, so $(f_1^Y)^*(\sigma_t) = (f_1^Y)^*(\sigma_s')$. It follows from Lemma 24 that $\sigma_{\pi \circ s} = \sigma_s'$, hence $\mathscr{G}(\pi)(\sigma)_s = \sigma_s'$.

3.3 Conclusion

If we denote by i_1 : Adpt $(X, \Delta) \rightarrow \text{Nor}/X$ and i_2 : Nor $/X \rightarrow \text{Sch}/X$ the inclusion functors, Remark 7 implies that

$$\Omega^p_{(X,\Delta)} = {}_P(i_2 \circ i_1)(\mathscr{F}) \cong {}_Pi_2({}_Pi_1(\mathscr{F})) = {}_Pi_2(\mathscr{G}).$$

In Sect. 3.1 and Sect. 3.2 we have seen that \mathscr{G} is a qfh-sheaf on Nor/X in the sense of Suslin–Voevodsky, i.e., that it satisfies conditions (i) and (ii) from the introduction. Therefore, by Lemma 10, its Kan extension $\Omega^{p}_{(X,\Lambda)}$ is a qfh-sheaf on Sch/X.

4 Some computations

The value $\Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^{p}(T)$ can be described more explicitly for quasi-finite separated X-schemes $T \to X$. In Proposition 34 we compute the restriction of $\Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^{p}$ to the small Zariski site on X, which allows us to compute the cohomology of $\Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^{p}$ in Corollary 35. The cases $\dim(T) < \dim(X)$ and $\dim(T) = \dim(X)$ are briefly discussed in Remark 36 and Remark 37 respectively.

Proposition 34 In the setting of Theorem 1, denote by $\Omega^p_{(X,\Delta)}|_X$ the restriction of $\Omega^p_{(X,\Delta)}$ to the small Zariski site on X. Then we have

$$\Omega_X^{\lfloor p \rfloor}(\log \lfloor \Delta \rfloor) \cong \Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^p |_X.$$

Proof The global sections of $\Omega^p_{(X,\Delta)}$ are given by

$$\Omega^{p}_{(X,\Delta)}(X) \cong \left\{ \left. (\sigma_{\gamma})_{\gamma} \in \prod_{\substack{\gamma : Y \to X \\ \text{adapted}}} \Omega^{[p]}_{(X,\Delta,\gamma)}(Y) \right| \begin{array}{c} f^{*}(\sigma_{\gamma}) = \sigma_{\gamma \circ f} \text{ for all} \\ f : Y' \to Y \text{ over } X \end{array} \right\}$$

Recall that $\Omega_X^{[p]}(\log \lfloor \Delta \rfloor)(X)$ can be described as $i_*\Omega_U^p(\log \lfloor \Delta |_U \rfloor)$ for $U \subseteq X$ as in Definition 16. Therefore, given $\sigma \in \Omega_X^{[p]}(\log \lfloor \Delta \rfloor)(X) = \Omega_U^p(\log \lfloor \Delta |_U \rfloor)(U)$ and an adapted morphism $\gamma: Y \to X$, we can pull back σ along $\gamma|_{\gamma^{-1}(U)}: \gamma^{-1}(U) \to U$ and restrict the result to the open subset V in Definition 16 to obtain a section $\gamma^*\sigma \in \Omega_{(X,\Delta,\gamma)}^{[p]}(Y)$. By torsion freeness and functoriality of pull-back of logarithmic differentials, the resulting family $(\gamma^*\sigma)_{\gamma}$ is a section in $\Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^p(X)$. Since adapted morphisms are dominant, this defines an injective morphism $\Omega_X^{[p]}(\log \lfloor \Delta \rfloor)(X) \to \Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^p(X)$.

The same recipe gives an injective morphism $\Omega_X^{[p]}(\log \lfloor \Delta \rfloor)(W) \to \Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^p(W)$ for any other open subset $W \subseteq X$. Suppose now that $\iota: W_1 \to W_2$ is an inclusion of open subsets of X. The restriction morphism of $\Omega_X^{[p]}(\log \lfloor \Delta \rfloor)$ is induced by the pull-back of Kähler differentials ι^* as in Lemma 22, so we want to show that the following diagram commutes:

$$\Omega_X^{[p]}(\log \lfloor \Delta \rfloor)(W_2) \longrightarrow \Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^p(W_2)$$

$$\iota^* \downarrow \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow \Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^p(\iota$$

$$\Omega_X^{[p]}(\log \lfloor \Delta \rfloor)(W_1) \longrightarrow \Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^p(W_1).$$

Let $\sigma \in \Omega_X^{[p]}(\log \lfloor \Delta \rfloor)(W_2)$ and let $w_1: Y \to W_1$ be a morphism such that the composition $\gamma_{w_1}: Y \to X$ is an adapted morphism. The upper horizontal isomorphism sends σ to the family $(w_2^*\sigma)_{w_2}$, indexed by morphisms $w_2: Z \to W_2$ such that the composition $Z \to X$ is an adapted morphism. Its image under $\Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^p(\iota)$ is the family whose component at w_1 is given by $(w_2^*\sigma)_{w_2=\iota o w_1}$, i.e., $w_1^*\iota^*\sigma$. Therefore, the diagram commutes and we have an injective morphism

$$\Omega_X^{\lfloor p \rfloor}(\log \lfloor \Delta \rfloor) \to \Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^p |_X$$

of sheaves on the topological space X. We show that it is also surjective. Suppose we are given a family $(\sigma_{\gamma})_{\gamma} \in \Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^{p}(X)$. Let $U_0 \subseteq X$ be the largest open subset over which X and Supp (Δ) are smooth, which is a big open subset contained in the open subset $U \subseteq X$ from Definition 16. Surjectivity is local on X, so after possibly shrinking X, we may assume that we are in the setting of [6, §3.5]. Therefore, we may assume that there exists an adapted morphism $\gamma_0: Y_0 \to X$ factoring through $U_0 \subseteq X$ such that there exists a finite group G acting on Y_0 so that $Y_0 \to U_0$ is a quotient of Y_0 by G. (2) ensures that the logarithmic differential σ_{γ_0} is G-invariant, hence Hurwitz's formula [6, Lemma 3.16] implies that there exists a logarithmic differential $\sigma \in \Omega_{U_0}^{p}(\log \lfloor \Delta |_{U_0} \rfloor)(U_0)$ such that $\gamma_0^* \sigma = \sigma_{\gamma_0}$. This logarithmic differential defines a reflexive logarithmic differential in $\Omega_X^{[p]}(\log \lfloor \Delta \rfloor)(X)$ which is the desired preimage of the given section of $\Omega^p_{(X,\Delta)}$. The same argument works for sections defined over smaller open subsets $W \subseteq X$, so the morphism above is surjective.

Corollary 35 In the setting of Theorem 1 we have

$$H^{i}_{qfh}\left(X, \Omega^{p}_{(X,\Delta)}\right) \cong H^{i}\left(X, \Omega^{[p]}_{X}(\log \lfloor \Delta \rfloor)\right)$$

for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$, where the left-hand side denotes cohomology with respect to the qfh-topology on Sch/X and the right-hand side denotes usual sheaf cohomology on X.

Proof Since normal schemes are geometrically unibranch [23, 0BQ3] and qfh-sheaves are étale sheaves, we can apply [4, Proposition 10.5.12] and [4, Theorem 10.5.10] to compute the left-hand side with respect to the étale topology on Sch/X. Étale cohomology groups can be computed in the small étale site instead [23, 03YX]. By Proposition 34, $\Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^p|_X$ is a quasi-coherent sheaf on X, so we can in turn compute its étale cohomology groups as usual Zariski sheaf cohomology on X [23, 03DW].

Remark 36 In the setting of Theorem 1, let $T \to X$ be an *X*-scheme such that dim $(T) < \dim(X)$. Then $\Omega^p_{(X,\Delta)}(T) = 0$, because we are taking the limit over an empty diagram in (1). But Proposition 34 shows that $\Omega^p_{(X,\Delta)}(X) \neq 0$ for some (X, Δ) , so $\Omega^p_{(X,\Delta)}$ is not homotopy invariant in general.

Remark 37 If $T \to X$ is quasi-finite with $\dim(T) = \dim(X)$, then the normalization $\overline{T} \to T$ induces a canonical isomorphism $\Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^p(T) \cong \Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^p(\overline{T})$ as a consequence of its universal property [23, 035Q]. Combining this with the Zariski sheaf property one can express $\Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^p(T)$ as the product of the sections over its irreducible components, and with arguments similar to those in Proposition 34 this allows one to compute the sections of $\Omega_{(X,\Delta)}^p$ over any quasi-finite separated X-scheme $T \to X$.

Acknowledgements I would like to thank Stefan Kebekus for asking the question that motivated this result and for many useful discussions and comments on an earlier version of this paper. I would like to thank Annette Huber-Klawitter for many useful discussions. I would like to thank Shane Kelly for pointing out to me the relevance of presheaves with transfers. I would also like to thank my fellow PhD students in Freiburg, especially Luca Terenzi, Vivien Vogelmann and Giovanni Zaccanelli, for the parallel study sessions which I spent thinking about this question. Finally, I would like to thank an anonymous referee for many useful comments and suggestions.

Funding Open Access funding enabled and organized by Projekt DEAL.

Data availability There is no data attached or related to this paper.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

References

- 1. Atiyah, M.F., Macdonald, I.G.: Introduction to Commutative Algebra, p. ix+128. Addison-Wesley Publishing Co., Reading (1969)
- Campana, F.: Orbifolds, special varieties and classification theory. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 54(3), 499–630 (2004). ISSN: 0373-0956. https://doi.org/10.5802/aif.2027
- Campana, F., Paun, M.: Foliations with positive slopes and birational stability of orbifold cotangent bundles. Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. 129, 1–49 (2019). ISSN 0073-8301. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10240-019-00105-w
- Cisinski, D.-C., Déglise, F.: Triangulated categories of mixed motives. In: Springer Monographs in Mathematics, pp. xlii+406. Springer, Cham (2019). ISBN: 978-3-030-33241-9; 978-3-030-33242-6. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-33242-6
- Deligne, P.: Équations différentielles à points singuliers réguliers. In: Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 163, pp. iii+133. Springer, Berlin (1970)
- Esnault, H., Viehweg, E.: Lectures on vanishing theorems. In: DMV Seminar, vol. 20, pp. vi+164. Birkhäuser, Basel (1992). ISBN: 3-7643-2822-3. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-0348-8600-0
- Görtz, U., Wedhorn, T.: Algebraic geometry I. In: Advanced Lectures in Mathematics. Schemes with Examples and Exercises, pp. viii+615. Vieweg + Teubner, Wiesbaden (2010). ISBN: 978-3-8348-0676-5. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-8348-9722-0
- Greb, D., Kebekus, S., Kovács, S.J., Peternell, T.: Differential forms on log canonical spaces. Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. 114, 87–169 (2011). ISSN: 0073-8301. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10240-011-0036-0
- Grothendieck, A.: Éléments de géométrie algébrique. III. Étude cohomologique des faisceaux cohérents. I. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 11, 167 (1961). ISSN: 0073-8301. http://www.numdam.org/item? id=PMIHES_1961__11__167_0
- Hartshorne, R.: Algebraic geometry. In: Graduate Texts in Mathematics, No. 52, pp. xvi+496. Springer, New York (1977). ISBN: 0-387-90244-9
- Hartshorne, R.: Stable reflexive sheaves. Math. Ann. 254(2), 121–176 (1980). ISSN: 0025-5831. https:// doi.org/10.1007/BF01467074
- Huber, A.: Realization of Voevodsky's motives. J. Algebraic Geom. 9(4), 755–799 (2000). ISSN: 1056-3911
- Iitaka, S.: Algebraic geometry. In: North-Holland Mathematical Library. An Introduction to Birational Geometry of Algebraic Varieties, vol. 24, , pp. x+357. Springer, New York (1982). ISBN: 0-387-90546-4
- Kebekus, S.: Pull-back morphisms for reflexive differential forms. Adv. Math. 245, 78–112 (2013). ISSN: 0001-8708, 1090-2082. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aim.2013.06.013
- Kebekus, S., Schnell, C.: Extending holomorphic forms from the regular locus of a complex space to a resolution of singularities. J. Am. Math. Soc. 34(2), 315–368 (2021). ISSN: 0894-0347, 1088-6834. https://doi.org/10.1090/jams/962
- Kollár, J., Mori, S.: Birational geometry of algebraic varieties. In: Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics. With the collaboration of C. H. Clemens and A. Corti, translated from the 1998 Japanese original, vol. 134 pp. viii+254. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1998). ISBN: 0-521-63277-3. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/CBO9780511662560
- Lane, S.M.: Categories for the working mathematician. In: Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 2nd edn, vol. 5, pp. xii+314. Springer, New York (1998). ISBN: 0-387-98403-8
- Lecomte, F., Wach, N.: Le complexe motivique de Rham. Manuscr. Math. 129(1), 75–90 (2009). ISSN: 0025-2611,1432-1785. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00229-008-0248-x
- Olsson, M.: Algebraic spaces and stacks. In: American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publications, vol. 62, , pp. xi+298. American Mathematical Society, Providence (2016). ISBN: 978-1-4704-2798-6. https://doi.org/10.1090/coll/062
- Revêtements étales et Groupe Fondamental. In: Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Séminaire de Géométrie Algébrique du Bois Marie 1960–1961 (SGA 1), Dirigé par Alexandre Grothendieck. Augmenté de deux exposés de M. Raynaud, vol. 224, pp. xxii+447. Springer, Berlin (1971)
- Rousseau, Erwan: Degeneracy of holomorphic maps via orbifolds. Bull. Soc. Math. France 140(4), 459–484 (2012). issn: 0037-9484,2102-622X. https://doi.org/10.24033/bsmf.2633
- Suslin, A., Voevodsky, V.: Singular homology of abstract algebraic varieties. Invent. Math. 123(1), 61–94 (1996). ISSN: 0020-9910. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01232367
- 23. The Stacks Project Authors. The Stacks Project. https://stacks.math.columbia.edu (2023)
- Voevodsky, V.: Homology of schemes. Sel. Math. (N.S.) 2(1), 111–153 (1996). ISSN: 1022-1824. https:// doi.org/10.1007/BF01587941

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.